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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 
Mitsubishi International Corporation 
New York, New York 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mitsubishi International 
Corporation (the “Company”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation 
(Americas)), which comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2021 and 
2020, and the related statements of profit and loss, comprehensive income (loss), changes 
in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Mitsubishi International Corporation as of March 31, 2021 
and 2020, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

July 9, 2021 
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars, except for share data)

ASSETS Notes 2021 2020

CURRENT ASSETS:
  Cash and cash equivalents 12 481,486$     193,130$     
  Notes and loans receivable: 8, 10, 12, 18
    Parent and group companies 899,672      472,746       
    Customers 9,592          69,115         
  Trade and other receivables: 8, 10, 12, 18
    Customers (after allowance for uncollectible accounts 
      of $2,121 in 2021 and  $1,517 in 2020 ) 696,498      506,753       
    Parent and group companies 164,699      141,060       
    Other 19,026        19,116         
  Lease receivable 19 4,380          3,843           
  Income tax receivable 14 24,317        17,189         
  Merchandise inventories 5, 12 1,975,049    1,144,663    
  Leased inventories 5, 12 2,987,805    2,377,846    
  Advance payments to suppliers 1,168          2,033           
  Other financial assets 12 438,220      552,601       
  Other current assets 2,947          4,084           

           Total current assets 7,704,859    5,504,179    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
  Noncurrent loans receivable from Parent and
    group companies 8, 10, 12, 18 1,580,347    1,340,866    
  Other noncurrent financial assets 8, 12 31,939        34,811         
  Investments accounted for using the equity method 1 4,692          5,067           
  Other investments 12 1,979          5,250           
  Noncurrent lease receivable 19 6,258          9,980           
  Property and equipment 6 7,868          8,413           
  Right-of-use assets 19 17,873        12,544         
  Intangible assets 7 2,859          2,865           
  Deferred tax assets 14 16,096        17,687         
  Other noncurrent assets 219             843             

           Total noncurrent assets 1,670,130    1,438,326    

TOTAL ASSETS 9,374,989$  6,942,505$  

(Continued)  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars, except for share data)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Notes 2021 2020

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Current borrowings: 9, 12
    Parent and group companies 2,515,514$     1,106,359$     
    Other 1,072,102       1,220,001       
  Current maturities of noncurrent borrowings 9, 12 50,000            150,000          
  Trade and other payables and accrued expenses: 12, 18
    Parent and group companies 87,251            155,256          
    Trade creditors 330,104          349,914          
  Lease liabilities 19 10,441            8,276              
  Income tax payables 14 19,357            25,922            
  Advances from customers 383                 1,534              
  Commodity financing arrangement 616,383          235,712          
  Other financial liabilities 12 285,040          402,556          
  Other current liabilities 8, 11 3,115              3,163              
  Metal lease liabilities 12 2,347,401       1,494,895       

           Total current liabilities 7,337,091       5,153,588       

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Noncurrent borrowings 9, 12 708,716          410,000          
  Other noncurrent financial liabilities 8, 12 29,307            34,550            
  Noncurrent lease liabilities 19 20,339            18,648            
  Other noncurrent liabilities 11 26,529            46,830            

           Total noncurrent liabilities 784,891          510,028          

           Total liabilities 8,121,982       5,663,616       

EQUITY:
  Stockholder’s Equity:
    Common stock without par value (authorized—750,000
      shares issued and outstanding—710,719 shares) 931,940          931,940          
    Retained earnings 325,332          348,058          

    Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
      Other investments designated as FVOCI 12 3,818              4,615              
      Cash flow hedges 8 565                 2,558              
      Exchange differences on translating foreign affiliates 17 (8,648)            (8,282)            

           Total accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,265)            (1,109)            

           Total stockholder’s equity 1,253,007       1,278,889       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 9,374,989$     6,942,505$     

See notes to the financial statements. (Concluded)  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars)

Notes 2021 2020

REVENUES 10     4,158,007$  3,734,932$  

COST OF REVENUE FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5, 12, 19 (4,020,940)  (3,548,860)  

GROSS PROFIT 137,067      186,072      

SELLING, GENERAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE 11, 15, 19 (57,995)       (62,964)       

FINANCE INCOME 19 28,281        78,841        

FINANCE COSTS 19 (26,720)       (79,163)       

(LOSS) GAIN ON INVESTMENTS 12 (180)            2,032          

SUNDRY LOSS (NET OF INCOME OF $2,163 IN 2021
  AND $1,702 IN 2020) 8, 12, 16 (2,675)         (624)            

INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
  THE EQUITY METHOD 664             300             

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX PROVISION 78,442        124,494      

INCOME TAX PROVISION 14 (17,717)       (24,579)       

NET INCOME 60,725$      99,915$      

See notes to the financial statements.  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars)

Note 2021 2020

NET INCOME 60,725$    99,915$    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) —Net of tax 17 
  Items that will not be reclassified to net income:
    Losses on other investments designated
      as FVOCI (543)         (200)         
    Share of other comprehensive loss of
      affiliated company -              (347)         
    Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 16,210      (8,378)      

           Total 15,667      (8,925)      
  Items that may be reclassified to net income:
    Exchange differences on translating foreign
      affiliated company (366)         (1,622)      
    Cash flow hedges 8   (1,993)      7,116       

           Total (2,359)      5,494       

           Total other comprehensive income (loss)—
             net of tax 13,308      (3,431)      

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 74,033$    96,484$    

See notes to the financial statements.  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars)

2021 2020
COMMON STOCK:

  Balances—beginning and end of year 931,940$    931,940$    

  Retained earnings:
    Balances—beginning of year 348,058      326,181      
    Net income 60,725       99,915       
    Dividend (99,915)      (72,064)      
    Transfer from other components of equity 16,464       (7,745)        
    Other changes -                1,771         

           Balances—end of year 325,332      348,058      

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
  Balances—beginning of year (1,109)        (5,423)        
  Losses on other investments designated
    as FVOCI—net of tax (543)           (200)           
  Share of other comprehensive loss of
    affiliated company -                (347)           
  Cash flow hedges (1,993)        7,116         
  Exchange differences on translating foreign affiliates (366)           (1,622)        
  Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans—net
    of tax 16,210       (8,378)        
  Transfer to Retained earnings (16,464)      7,745         

           Balances—end of year (4,265)        (1,109)        

TOTAL STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY 1,253,007$ 1,278,889$ 

See notes to the financial statements.  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars)

2021 2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
  Net income 60,725$    99,915$    

  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
    used in operating activities:
    Depreciation and amortization 12,483      17,683      
    Loss (gain) on investments 180          (2,032)      
    Inventory write-down -              1,386       
    Loss (gain) on lease modification 413          (120)         
    Provision for doubtful accounts and other losses 1,031       (993)         
    Provision for accrued pension liabilities 1,671       1,524       
    Income taxes 17,717      24,579      
    Finance income (28,281)    (78,841)    
    Finance cost 26,720      79,163      
    Equity in earnings of affiliates (664)         (300)         
    Unrealized gain and foreign exchange gain 
      on derivatives, inventories and metal lease liabilities (306,025)   (114,417)   
    Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
      Notes receivable 59,517      128,459    
      Trade and other receivables (221,115)   104,387    
      Merchandise inventories and precious metal inventory 40,173      (530,573)   
      Advance payments to suppliers 865          44,800      
      Other financial and non-financial assets (181,673)   7,651       
      Other noncurrent financial and non-financial assets 4,389       21,817      
      Commodity financing arrangement 380,671    39,948      
      Trade and other payables and accrued expenses (85,895)    14,080      
      Advances from customers (1,151)      (518)         
      Other financial and current liabilities (139,757)   189,823    
      Other noncurrent financial and non-financial liabilities (1,699)      (12,822)    

(359,705)   34,599      

  Cash generated from operating activities:
    Interest received 27,146      53,351      
    Interest paid (27,895)    (80,050)    
    Income tax paid (30,321)    (30,265)    
    Dividends received 674          957          

           Net cash used in operating activities (390,101)   (21,408)    

(Continued)  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas))

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands US dollars)

2021 2020

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Proceeds from sales of other investments 2,367$        14,518$       
  Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 34               25               
  Purchases of property and equipment (1,454)         (1,261)         
  Purchases of intangible assets (1,009)         (1,782)         
  Collection of loans receivable from parent and group companies 735,912       812,892       
  Increase in loans receivable to parent and group companies (1,399,857)  (441,121)      

           Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (664,007)     383,271       

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Proceeds from issuance of current borrowings 4,827,499    3,504,094    
  Repayment of current borrowings (3,572,125)  (3,711,718)   
  Proceeds from issuance of noncurrent borrowings 199,242       50,000         
  Repayment of noncurrent borrowings -                 (150,000)      
  Repayment of lease liabilities (12,237)       (19,021)        
  Dividends payment to the Parent (99,915)       (72,064)        

           Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,342,464    (398,709)      

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 288,356       (36,846)        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year 193,130       229,976       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year 481,486$     193,130$     

NON-CASH ITEMS IN INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Loans receivable novation (Note 9) -     $          681,000$     
  Settlement of loans receivable from the Parent and
     group company in exchange for borrowings -                 150,000       
  Refinancing borrowings 700,000       -                  
  Refinancing loans receivable 26,000        239,000       

See notes to the financial statements. (Concluded)  
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MITSUBISHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION 
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas)) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020 
(In thousand US dollars, except as noted) 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Mitsubishi International Corporation (the “Company” or “MIC”) is incorporated in the United 
States. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas) (“MCA”), which 
in turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation (“MC”), Tokyo, Japan 
(collectively, the “Parent”). The Parent is the ultimate controlling party. The address of its 
registered office and principal place of business is 655 Third Avenue, New York. 

The Company is engaged in various business activities, such as trading activities, financing 
for customers and suppliers relating to such trading activities, and organizing and 
coordinating industrial projects through its business networks. The Company’s operations 
are principally in the following areas: mineral resources, petroleum and chemicals, 
industrial infrastructure, urban development, power solution, and industrial material, each 
having a diverse customer base. The Company also has trading relationships such as sales 
and purchases of goods with the Parent and the subsidiaries of the Parent (collectively, the 
“Parent and group companies”). 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximizing the return to the Parent through dividends. The 
Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged over the reported years. The capital 
structure of the Company consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 9 offset by 
cash and cash equivalents) and equity of the Company (comprising issued capital and 
retained earnings). 

On April 1, 2012, MC established MCA as a wholly owned subsidiary, and transferred MIC’s 
stock held by MC to MCA. MCA has been established to strengthen regional coordination 
and to consolidate management of group companies in North America. 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the recent novel coronavirus 
disease (“COVID-19”) outbreak a pandemic. In response to the outbreak many states have 
implemented measures to combat the outbreak, such as travel restrictions and shelter in 
place orders. Since then, the situation in the U.S. has improved as the government started 
to vaccinate the population. States are beginning to lift restrictions and the pandemic is 
slowly getting under control. The extent to which COVID-19 will continue to impact the 
Company’s results of operations and financial condition will depend on future 
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new 
information which may emerge concerning various variants of the virus and the actions to 
contain or treat its impact, among others. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards—These financial 
statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, and 
IFRIC Interpretations (collectively IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 
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2.2 Basis of Measurement—The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for certain assets and liabilities that are measured at their 
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as stated in Note 3, “Significant 
accounting policies.” 

2.3 Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions—In preparing 
the financial statements, management is required to make judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions that may affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Actual and next financial year 
results may differ materially from these estimates. 

The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate 
is revised and future periods that are affected. 

Significant judgment and estimates are required in the determination of the 
allowances for credit losses (Note 3.4), deferred tax assets (Note 14), assumptions 
used in the calculation of pension and other long-term employee benefit accruals 
(Note 11), legal and other accruals for contingent liabilities (Note 20), the 
determination of the carrying value of property and equipment (Note 6) and intangible 
assets (Note 7), and fair value measurement of financial instruments and inventories 
(Note 12). 

2.4 Functional Currency and Presentation Currency—Items included in the financial 
statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are 
presented in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated, which is the Company’s 
presentational currency. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1 Affiliated Companies—The equity method of accounting is used for investments in 
affiliated companies. An affiliated company is an entity which is not controlled by the 
Company but for which the Company is able to exert significant influence over the 
decisions on financial and operating or business policies. If the Company has 20% but 
no more than 50% of the voting rights of another entity, the Company is presumed to 
have significant influence over the entity. However, one of the entities in which the 
Company holds less than 20% has been accounted for on the equity method due to 
significant influence achieved by combined interests held by MC or other affiliates. The 
Company applies equity method of accounting for the investment in Mitsubishi do 
Brasil S.A. which the Company holds 12.57% interest. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an affiliated company is initially 
recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the 
Company’s share of the net assets of an affiliated company after the date of 
acquisition. The Company’s share of the net income (loss) of an affiliated company is 
recognized in the Company’s net profit. The Company’s share of the other 
comprehensive income or loss of the affiliated company is recognized in the 
Company’s other comprehensive income (loss). When the Company’s share of losses 
of an affiliated company equals or exceeds its interest in the affiliated company, the 
Company discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. After the Company’s 
interest, including any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Company’s net investment in the affiliated company is reduced to zero, additional 
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losses are provided for, and a liability is recognized, only to the extent that the 
Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the affiliated company. All significant intercompany profits have been eliminated in 
proportion to interests in affiliated companies. 

An affiliated company is accounted for using the equity method from the date they 
become an affiliated company. On initial recognition, the amount of investment in 
excess of interests with respect to the net fair value of assets, liabilities, and 
contingent liabilities of affiliated companies is recognized as the amount corresponding 
to goodwill, and is included in the carrying amount of investments. 

In cases where equity method investments are disposed of and significant influence is 
lost, remaining investments are measured at fair value at the disposal date, and are 
accounted for as financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. 
The difference between the previous carrying amount and fair value of the remaining 
investments is recognized in “(Loss) Gain on Investments” in the statements of profit 
and loss. The amount previously recognized as other comprehensive income by 
affiliated companies is accounted for by determining whether or not they should be 
reclassified into net profit as if related assets or liabilities had been directly 
disposed of. 

3.2 Reporting Date—The Company’s affiliated companies maintain their fiscal year end 
at March 31. 

3.3 Foreign Currency Translations and Transactions—Items in the financial 
statements denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate in 
effect at the transaction date, and monetary items are retranslated at the exchange 
rate as at the fiscal year end. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Gains or losses from foreign 
currency transactions, such as those resulting from the settlement of foreign 
receivables or payables during the period, are recognized in “Sundry loss—net” in the 
statements of profit and loss in such period. The difference arising from the 
retranslation of monetary items is recognized in “Sundry loss—net” in the statements 
of profit and loss. 

Net assets of foreign affiliated companies have been translated at current exchange 
rates at the statement of financial position date. Cumulative translation adjustments 
are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in 
the statements of changes in equity. In the event of partial disposal of foreign 
affiliated companies, the amount proportionate to the disposal of the cumulative 
amount of exchange difference is reclassified into net profit and loss. 

3.4 Financial Instruments—The Company applies IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
(revised in July 2014), to the accounting treatment of financial instruments. 

i) Nonderivative Financial Assets—The Company recognizes trade and other 
receivables on the date they arise. The Company recognizes all other financial 
assets at the transaction date on which the Company became a party to the 
contract concerning such financial instruments. 

The Company recognizes financial assets at its fair value. Financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, also includes transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. After initial 
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recognition, financial assets are measured either at amortized cost or at fair 
value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Nonderivative financial assets are classified and measured as follows: 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost—Financial assets are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees paid or received, transaction costs, and other 
premium/discounts) through the expected life of financial asset, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income 
(“FVOCI”)—A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met: 

(a) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 
and 

(b) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both 
to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that 
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding, are subsequently measured at FVOCI; 

Other Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value—Financial assets other than those 
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are measured at fair value, and changes in their fair value are recognized as 
profit or loss (“FVPL”). However, the Company elects to designate some equity 
instruments as changes in their fair value are recognized as other comprehensive 
income if the investments are not held for trading. A financial asset is classified 
as held for trading if: 

(a) It has been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing it in the near term; or 

(b) On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit taking; or 
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(c) It is a derivative (except for derivatives that are financial guarantee 
contracts or designated and effective hedging instruments). 

Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at FVOCI are directly 
transferred from other comprehensive income to retained earnings in the event of 
derecognition of such assets, and are not recognized in net profit or loss. 
Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVOCI is recognized in 
“Sundry loss—net” in the statements of profit and loss at the time when the right 
to receive payment of the dividend is established. 

ii) Derecognition of Financial Assets—The Company derecognizes financial 
assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire, or when the financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred. 

iii) Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents are short-term 
(original maturities of three months or less), highly liquid investments, including 
certificate of deposit that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

iv) Nonderivative Financial Liabilities—The Company initially recognizes debt 
securities issued by the Company on the issue date. All other financial liabilities 
are recognized on the transaction date on which the Company becomes a party to 
the contract concerning the financial instruments. 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of direct transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts the estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid, transaction 
costs, and other premium/discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or a shorter period (where appropriate) to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 

v) Equity—Comprehensive Income (Loss)—In accordance with IASB 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, 
the Company has included amounts for comprehensive income (loss) (which 
consists of net profit or loss and other comprehensive income or loss) in the 
statements of changes in equity and the statements of comprehensive income 
(loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) consists of all changes to stockholder’s 
equity other than those resulting from net profit or loss and shareholder 
transactions. For the Company, other comprehensive income (loss) consists of 
exchange differences on translating foreign affiliated company, remeasurement of 
defined benefit pension plans, cash flow hedges, share of other comprehensive 
loss of affiliated company and loss on other investments designated as FVOCI, on 
a net of tax basis, where applicable. Accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss), which is primarily the cumulative amount of other comprehensive income 
(loss), is a separate component of total stockholder’s equity. 

vi) Derivatives Instruments—The Company recognizes all derivative instruments 
as assets or liabilities at fair value as at the date on which they become party to 
the relevant agreements. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative instruments 
are measured at fair value. 
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The Company uses derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign 
currency, commodity price, commodity premium and interest rate risks. Interest 
rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate exposures. Commodity swaps and 
futures are utilized to hedge fluctuation of commodity price and commodity 
premium. 

In addition, the Company has foreign exchange forward contracts that have been 
entered into principally to manage exposure to transaction and translation risk 
associated with certain assets, obligations and commitments denominated in 
foreign currencies. Such contracts have not been designated as fair value hedges 
for accounting purposes and are marked to market with changes in fair value 
recognized in “Sundry loss—net” in the statements of profit and loss. 

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into commodity forward 
and futures contracts to reduce its exposures to price fluctuations on long-term 
commitments and inventory positions (principally aluminum, copper, crude oil, 
precious metals, each of which is traded on a terminal market). Other contracts 
that have not been designated as fair value hedges for accounting purposes are 
marked to market with changes in fair value recognized in “Revenues” and “Cost 
of revenues from operating activities” in the statements of profit and loss. 

vii) Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities—If the Company currently has a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amount of financial assets 
against the recognized amount of financial liabilities and has the intention either 
to settle on a net basis or to realize assets and settle liabilities simultaneously, 
the Company offsets financial assets against financial liabilities and presents the 
net amount in the statements of financial position. 

viii) Impairment—The Company has applied IFRS 9 (revised in July 2014), Financial 
Instruments. The Company recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses 
(“ECL”) on the financial instruments that are measured at amortized cost and 
debt instruments that are measured at FVOCI. 

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These 
are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Company under the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects 
to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, 
discounted at the asset’s effective interest rate (“EIR”). 

ECL is required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to: 

 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date, (referred to as Stage 1); or 

 full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events 
over the life of the financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3). 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the 
credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECL is measured at an amount 
equal to the 12-month ECL, except for trade receivables. The Company measures 
ECL for all trade receivables at lifetime ECL. 
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The Company measures ECL for financial instruments using a provision matrix, 
except when a financial instrument is in default. When a financial instrument is in 
default, the Company measures ECL using present value of the difference 
between the cash flows due to the Company under the contract and the expected 
(probability-weighted) cash flows due to the Company. 

When ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 
grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics, such as: 

 instrument type; 
 credit risk ratings; 
 remaining term to maturity 

Credit-impaired financial assets—A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to 
as Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about 
the following events: 

 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

 a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

 the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession 
that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganization; 

 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 
financial difficulties; or 

 the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects 
the incurred credit losses. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined 
effect of several events may have caused financial assets to become credit-
impaired. The Company assesses whether financial assets are credit-impaired at 
each reporting date. 

A financial instrument is considered credit impaired if the counterparty has not 
yet legally bankrupted but has negative equity and there is no possibility of 
recovery. 

Definition of default—The definition of default is used in measuring the amount of 
ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is measured based on 
12-month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default 
(PD) which affects both the measurement of ECL and the identification of a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

The Company considers an event of default to be the same with credit-impaired 
as it is consistent with the Company’s credit risk management policy. IFRS 9 
includes a rebuttable presumption that a financial asset has defaulted when 
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due. 
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Significant increase in credit risk—The Company monitors all financial instruments 
that are subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk the Company will measure the loss allowance 
based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the 
remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was 
anticipated for the remaining maturity when the financial instrument was first 
recognized. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative 
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort, based on the Company’s historical experience and the 
Company expert’s credit assessment. 

The Company maintains an internal credit rating system using “G”, “N” and “W” 
to present increasing level of credit risks with “G” representing lowest credit risk 
and “W” representing highest credit risk. Various factors are evaluated when 
assessing the internal credit rating of a counterparty including past due status of 
the related financial assets. IFRS 9 included a presumption that the credit risk on 
a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. 

An entity may assume that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. To determine whether a 
financial instrument has low credit risk, the Company uses internal credit rating. 
Better internal credit rating lowers the credit risk. 

The Company’s accounting policy is to use the practical expedient and measures 
lifetime ECL for all trade receivables without significant financing component 
using a provision matrix. As a result, there is no distinction between Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 of the impairment model for trade receivables. Most, if not all, of the 
loans are granted to Group companies and they are covered by letter of 
guarantee from MC, as such, they are subject to limited risk of default. 

Incorporation of forward-looking information—The Company uses forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort in determining whether 
credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. The Company incorporates external and internal forward looking 
information including economic data and forecasts published by governmental 
bodies and monetary authorities to its internal credit ratings. 

Measurement of ECL—The key inputs used for measuring ECL are: 

 probability of default (“PD”); 
 loss given default (“LGD”); 

These figures are generally derived from internally developed statistical models 
and other historical data and they are adjusted to reflect probability-weighted 
forward-looking information. 
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PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default occurring over a given time horizon. 
It is estimated as at a point in time. The calculation is based on statistical rating 
models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of 
counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on market data 
(where available), as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and 
qualitative factors. PDs are estimated considering the contractual maturities of 
exposures. The estimation is based on current conditions, adjusted to take into 
account estimates of future conditions that will impact PD. 

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is calculated based on market 
data as well as past experience of the difference between the contractual cash 
flows due and those that the Company would expect to receive, taking into 
account cash flows from any collateral or other credit enhancement. 

The Company measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum 
contractual period (including extension options) over which the entity is exposed 
to credit risk and not a longer period, even if contract extension or renewal is 
common business practice. 

Write-off—If the Company believes that there is no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset shall 
be directly written-off (i.e. derecognition) at an amount equal to credit loss, and 
reverse the loss allowance at an amount of the credit loss or the balance of the 
loss allowance before reversal, whichever smaller, and offset the loss from write-
off with reversal gains. Furthermore, loss allowance shall be recalculated based 
on the expected credit loss on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
after the write-off. 

Modification of financial assets—A modification of a financial asset occurs when 
the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are 
renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the 
financial asset. A modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual 
cash flows either immediately or at a future date. In addition, the introduction or 
adjustment of existing covenants of an existing receivable would constitute a 
modification even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash 
flows immediately but may affect the cash flows depending on whether the 
covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest rate that 
arises when covenants are breached). If the contractual cash flows on a financial 
asset have been renegotiated or modified and the financial asset was not 
derecognized, the Company assesses at the reporting date whether there has 
been a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial asset. 

Notes and loans receivable and Trade and other receivables in the statements of 
financial position are reported net of loss allowances. 

3.5 Inventories—In accordance with IAS 2.3, Inventories, the Company applies “broker-
trader” principles for certain of its merchandise, such as precious metals, crude oil, 
copper and aluminum, and leased inventories, which are initially measured at fair 
value, less cost to sell and subsequently remeasured at fair value less cost to sell at 
the end of each reporting period with changes recognized in profit or loss. The rest of 
the inventories are recognized at the lower of cost on the moving average method or 
net realizable value. Net realizable value is presented in the amount of estimated 
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selling price of inventories in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

The Company enters into contract to borrow precious metal (“Lease-in transaction”) 
from counterparty and is required to return the same quality and quantity of the 
precious metal to the counterparty on the date mutually agreed by both parties. The 
Company also lends precious metal (“Lease-out transaction”) to counterparty and the 
counterparty is required to return the same quality and quantity of the precious metal 
to the Company on the date mutually agreed by both parties in exchange for a lease 
fee which reflects interest and credit risk. The precious metal in Lease-out transaction 
is not derecognized since the Company retains title to the precious metal, the risk and 
rewards of ownership. The Company presents in the statements of financial position 
assets and liabilities related to its leased precious metal positions. The balances are 
recorded in “Leased inventories”, and “Metal lease liabilities”. 

Commodity financing arrangements are recognized in the statements of financial 
position as assets and liabilities. The balances are recorded in “Merchandise 
inventories” and “Commodity financing arrangement”. 

3.6 Property and Equipment 

Recognition and Measurement—Property and equipment are recorded at cost, net 
of accumulated depreciation. 

Cost includes the expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets, the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located. If the useful life of property and equipment varies from component to 
component, each component is recognized as a separate item of property and 
equipment. 

Depreciation—Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount. The 
depreciable amount is calculated by deducting the residual value from the cost of the 
asset or the amount equivalent to the cost. Depreciation is determined principally on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the property. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
the property or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. 

The useful lives used in computing depreciation are based on the Company’s estimate 
of the service life of the classes of property are as follows: 

Years
Leasehold improvements 2–17
Building, structures, and rail car 10–35
Machinery and equipment 5
Furniture, fixtures, and vehicles 3–7

 

The above depreciation method was adopted as it most closely reflects the pattern in 
which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for 
on a prospective basis. 
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Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. 

Derecognition—The carrying amount of an item of property and equipment is 
derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property 
and equipment is included in “Sundry loss—net” in the statements of profit and loss 
when the item is derecognized. 

3.7 Intangible Assets—The Company capitalizes purchased software as intangible 
assets. Intangible assets are amortized on the straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life. The useful life used in computing amortization is based on the Company’s 
estimate of the service life of the classes of intangible assets as follows: 

Years

Capitalized software costs 5
 

3.8 Leases—The Company applied IFRS 16, Leases, retrospectively with the cumulative 
effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial application on 
April 1, 2019. IFRS 16 introduced under lessee accounting new requirements on the 
recognition and measurement of all leases and provided exemptions for short-term 
leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. The Company has 
elected, a practical expedient under IFRS 16, not to reassess whether existing 
contracts contain leases at the date of initial application and apply this standard to 
existing contracts that were identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 and 
IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. In addition, the 
Company elected not to apply recognition and measurement requirements to leases 
for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application. Under 
the new requirements as a lessee, the Company has recognized right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for all leases except when the Company elected to apply practical 
expedient for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less) and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. 

Company as a Lessor—The Company acts as a sub-lessor in certain leasing 
transactions with related parties and other third parties, which are classified as finance 
leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as “Lease 
receivable” and “Noncurrent lease receivable” in the statements of financial position at 
the amount of net investment in the leases, and unearned income is allocated over 
the lease term at a constant periodic rate of return on the net investments and 
recognized in the fiscal year to which it is attributed. 

Company as a Lessee—The Company recognizes “Right-of-use assets”, “Lease 
liabilities” and “Noncurrent lease liabilities” in the statements of financial position for 
all leases as a lessee except short-term leases and leases for which the underlying 
asset is of low value. 

3.9 Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets—If there are any events or changes in 
circumstances indicating that the carrying amount of the Company’s nonfinancial 
assets, excluding inventories and deferred tax assets may not be recoverable, the 
recoverable amount of such assets are estimated by assuming that there are 
indications of impairment. 
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Assessment for impairment is performed with respect to each asset, cash-generating 
unit, or group of cash-generating units at the end of each reporting period. If the 
carrying amount of the asset, cash-generating unit, or group of cash-generating units 
exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in net profit or 
loss. 

The recoverable amount of the asset, cash-generating unit, or group of cash-
generating units is the higher of the value in use or the fair value, less costs to sell. 
Value in use is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows to the 
present value using the pretax discount rate reflecting the risks specific to the asset 
or the cash-generating unit. In cases where cash flows are generated by multiple 
assets, the smallest unit that generates cash flows more or less independently from 
cash flows of other assets or group of assets is referred to as a cash-generating unit. 

An impairment recognized in the past is reversed if there are indications of reversal 
of impairment and changes in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount. Reversal of impairment loss is recognized up to the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had 
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

3.10 Postemployment Benefits 

Defined Benefit Plans—Obligations related to defined benefit plans are recognized 
in the amount of benefit obligations under such plans, net of the fair value of plan 
assets, in the statements of financial position. Benefit obligations are calculated at 
the discounted present value of the amount of estimated future benefits 
corresponding to the consideration for services already provided by employees with 
respect to each plan. The Company remeasures benefit obligations using information 
provided by qualified actuaries in each period. 

Increase/decrease in benefit obligations for employees’ past services due to the 
revision of the pension plan is recognized in “Selling, general, and administrative 
expense” in the statements of profit and loss. 

The Company recognizes the increase/decrease in obligations due to the 
remeasurement of benefit obligations and pension assets of defined benefit plans in 
other comprehensive income (loss) and is accumulated in “Other components of 
equity” and immediately reclassifies them to “Retained earnings.” 

Defined Contribution Plans—Defined contribution plans are postemployment 
benefit plans in which the employer makes a certain amount of contributions to fund 
postemployment benefits and does not bear more obligations than the amount 
contributed. The obligations to make contributions under defined contribution plans 
are recognized in “Selling, general, and administrative expense” in the statements of 
profit and loss in the period during which services are provided by employees. 

3.11 Provisions—Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligations, and is 
discounted when the time value of money is material. 
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3.12 Current Assets and Liabilities Not Expected to be Realized or Settled within 
Twelve Months—Assets and liabilities are classified as current even when they are 
not expected to be realized or settled within twelve months after the reporting 
period, as long as they are expected to be realized or settled in the normal operating 
cycle of the Company’s business. 

Advance payments to suppliers and advances from customers primarily are 
attributable to long-term contracts in progress engaged by the Company’s machinery 
business for which the related operating cycles are longer than one year. Refer to 
note 3.13 paragraph Inventory, Advance payments and Advance receipts for the 
accounting treatments of Advance payments and Advance receipts. The Company 
also engages in long-term precious metal lease contracts to generate profit from 
fluctuation in prices, earn margins from physical transaction, and/or earn lease fee 
from leasing opportunities. 

The balances of the assets and liabilities expected to be realized or settled more than 
twelve months after March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

2021 2020

Current assets comprised of:
  Trade and other receivables
    —Parent and group companies 40$         -     $      
  Trade and other receivables
    —Other 181         -             
  Leased inventories 17,847    20,200    

March 31,

 

3.13 Revenue—The Company has applied IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, beginning on April 1, 2018 using retrospective method with cumulative 
effect of initially applying this standard recognized at the date of initial application 
under IFRS 15.C3(b). IFRS 15 introduced a 5-step approach to revenue recognition. 

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation. 

The Company generates revenue from trading transactions including sales of metals, 
oil and gas, chemicals, food products and general consumer merchandise as well as 
leasing of precious metal. Revenue from a trading transaction is recognized when the 
control of the goods/services is transferred to a customer, usually at the point of 
delivery based on Incoterms (International Commercial Terms) or at the completion 
of each contractual performance obligation. Due date for each invoice varies 
depending on the nature of each transaction, industrial practices and terms in the 
contract. Any difference in timing between satisfaction of performance obligation and 
payment under the contract will result in recognition of either a receivable or a 
contract liability. 



  
  
 

- 23 - 

As defined within IFRS 15, control of an asset refers to the ability to direct the use of, 
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset. Control includes 
the ability to prevent other entities from directing the use of, and obtaining the 
benefits from, an asset. When a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, it 
is satisfied at a point in time. The Company transfers control of goods/services to the 
customers at a point in time for most, if not all, trading transactions. 

The following are indicators of when the control is transferred to a customer. 

(a) The entity has a present right to payment for the asset 
(b) The customer has legal title to the asset 
(c) The entity has transferred physical possession of the asset 
(d) The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
(e) The customer has accepted the asset 

The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are 
separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to 
be allocated (e.g., warranties). In determining the transaction price for the sale of 
goods, the Company considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of 
significant financing components, noncash consideration, and consideration payable 
to the customer (if any). 

Variable consideration—If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable 
amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to which the Company 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to 
a customer. 

Financing component—Some trading transactions contain a component of short term 
financing to a customer. The duration of such financing arrangement is less than one 
year. The Company has applied a practical expedient under IFRS 15 by not adjusting 
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of the financing component for 
those financing arrangements with duration of one year or less. 

Streams of Revenue 

(a) Sales of Commodities and Merchandise—The Company acts as a principal in 
various trading transactions where the Company carries commodity inventory 
and generates a profit or loss on the spread between the bids and ask prices for 
commodities. 

(b) Rendering of Services—The Company performs services related to trading 
activities. The service activities include financial and logistics services, 
information and communications, technical support as well as purchase or sale 
of commodities and other merchandise on customer’s behalf for a commission. 

(c) Leasing of Precious Metals—The Company leases out precious metal inventory in 
exchange for consideration. 

Principal vs Agent considerations—The Company engages in trading transactions 
taking the role of either a principal or an agent of a principal or both. IFRS 15 
requires an entity to determine whether it is a principal or an agent in a transaction 
based on whether the entity controls the goods/services before transferring the 
goods/services to a customer. The Company presents revenue on a gross basis in 
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the statements of profit and loss for trading transactions in which the Company is 
the principal. The Company presents revenue on a net basis for trading transactions 
in which the Company is an agent of the principal. 

 Transactions Performed as a Principal—The Company enters into contracts to sell 
commodities and other merchandise to customers. The commodities and other 
merchandise may come from existing inventory on hand or they may come from 
purchase contracts that are executed at the same time as the sales contracts for 
purpose of limiting inventory risk. In either situation the Company acts as the 
primary obligor for the acceptance of the goods and has the discretion in pricing 
of the goods. Therefore, the Company considers itself to be the principal in these 
transactions. 

 Transactions Performed as an Agent—The Company enters into contracts with 
customers to purchase or sell, on their behalf, commodities and other 
merchandise, and charges a commission for this service. The Company also 
facilitates conclusion of the contracts between manufacturers and customers and 
deliveries of the products between suppliers and customers. The Company does 
not control the goods/services before they are transferred to customers. Hence, 
the Company is an agent in these transactions because it does not have the 
ability to direct the use of the goods/services or obtain benefits from the 
goods/services. 

Inventory, Advance payments and Advance receipts—For certain trading 
transactions, the Company acts as a purchasing agent for the customers. The 
Company makes purchase and shipment arrangements for the customers and also 
makes payments to the supplier on behalf of the customer. The Company may hold 
legal title to the goods for a certain period, however the Company, as an agent, does 
not have the control of the goods before the goods are delivered to the customer. 
Therefore, the payments made by the Company to the supplier is considered to be a 
payment made on behalf of the customer and is included in “Other financial assets - 
current”. The Company may also act as a sales agent in a trading transaction, the 
advance receipt from its contractual customer shall be recognized as a financial 
liability to the principal. 

The presentation of Revenues on the statements of profit and loss has been changed 
to aggregate all Revenues into one line item. Refer to note 10 for a breakdown of 
Revenues. 

3.14 Income Taxes—Income tax expenses consist of current and deferred taxes. They 
are recognized in net profit or loss, excluding items recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income (loss). 

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the financial 
statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities. 

For taxable temporary differences concerning affiliated companies deferred tax 
liabilities are recognized. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized in cases 
where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
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Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences concerning 
affiliated companies are recognized only to the extent that the temporary difference 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only with respect to unused tax losses, unused 
tax credits, and deductible temporary differences where it is probable to reduce 
future taxable income. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each period and the Company reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax 
asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

3.15 Fair Value Measurements—Certain assets and liabilities are required to be 
recognized at fair value. The estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities have 
been determined using market information, such as quoted market price and 
valuation methodologies, such as market approach, income approach, and cost 
approach. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value. 

(i) Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets in which transactions take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume on an ongoing basis for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date. 

(ii) Level 2—Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted 
prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities, and model-
derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are 
observable in active markets. 

(iii) Level 3—Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities which reflect the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the assets or 
liabilities. The Company develops unobservable inputs using the best information 
available in the circumstances, which might include the Company’s own data. 

4. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLIED 

The Company is currently assessing the possible impacts of the application of the following 
new and revised major IFRSs that have been issued, but are not yet effective: 

Date of Mandatory Reporting Periods
Application of Application

(Fiscal Year of by the Company
Standards and Commencement (The reporting
Interpretations Title Thereafter) period ending)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023 March 31, 2024
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IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts, which establishes principles 
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure for insurance contracts 
issued, reinsurance contracts held and investment contracts with discretionary participation 
features issued. IFRS 17 is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 
Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the potential impacts, if 
any, the adoption of this guidance may have on the financial statements. 

The impact of all other IFRSs not yet adopted is not expected to be material. 

5. INVENTORIES 

The breakdown of Merchandise inventories as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows: 

2021 2020

Measured at fair value, less cost to sell 1,768,872$ 954,765$    
Measured at lower of cost or net realizable value 206,177      189,898      

Total 1,975,049$ 1,144,663$ 
 

The amount of inventories recognized as “Cost of revenues from operating activities” for 
the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, was $3,388,797 and $3,558,716, respectively. 

The amount of write-down of inventories recognized as expenses for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020, was $0 and $1,386, respectively. 

The breakdown of Leased inventories as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows: 

2021 2020

Measured at fair value, less cost to sell 2,656,313$ 2,259,886$ 
Measured at lower of cost or net realizable value 331,492      117,960      

Total 2,987,805$ 2,377,846$  

Assets arising from commodity financing arrangements recorded in “Merchandise 
inventories” are $566,203 and $237,515 as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

The following is a breakdown of the changes in gross carrying amount and accumulated 
depreciation of property and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Building Furniture
Structures Machinery Fixtures

Leasehold and and and
Cost Improvements Railcar Equipment Vehicles Total

Balances—April 1, 2019 14,650$    5,483$    2,150$     5,962$   28,245$      
  Additions 2              -             -             1,259     1,261         
  Sales -               -             -             (25)        (25)             
  Retirement (45)           (1)           -             (907)       (953)           
  Transfer -               -             (127)        127        -                

Balances—March 31, 2020 14,607      5,482      2,023      6,416     28,528       

  Additions 680           1            -             773        1,454         
  Sales -               -             -             (35)        (35)             
  Retirement (248)         -             -             (518)       (766)           
  Transfer 661           -             -             -            661            

Balances—March 31, 2021 15,700$    5,483$    2,023$     6,636$   29,842$      

Building Furniture
Structures Machinery Fixtures

Leasehold and and and
Accumulated Depreciation Improvements Railcar Equipment Vehicles Total

Balances—April 1, 2019 (10,162)$   (1,728)$   (1,986)$   (4,813)$  (18,689)$    
  Depreciation expense (1,547)       (128)       (56)          (591)       (2,322)        
  Sales -               -             -             10          10              
  Retirement 36             -             -             850        886            
  Transfer -               -             124         (124)       -                

Balances—March 31, 2020 (11,673)     (1,856)     (1,918)     (4,668)    (20,115)      

  Depreciation expense (1,660)       (128)       (51)          (761)       (2,600)        
  Sales -               -             -             13          13              
  Retirement 248           -             -             480        728            

Balances—March 31, 2021 (13,085)$   (1,984)$   (1,969)$   (4,936)$  (21,974)$    

Net book value:
  As of March 31, 2020 2,934$      3,626$    105$       1,748$   8,413$       

  As of March 31, 2021 2,615$      3,499$    54$         1,700$   7,868$       
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The following is a breakdown of the changes in gross carrying amount and accumulated 
amortization of intangible assets for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Cost 2021 2020

Balances—beginning of year 11,950$  12,604$  
  Additions 1,009      1,782      
  Retirement (404)       (2,436)     

Balances—end of year 12,555$  11,950$  

Accumulated Amortization 2021 2020

Balances—beginning of year (9,085)$   (10,543)$ 
  Amortization expense (1,009)     (930)       
  Retirement 398         2,388      

Balances—end of year (9,696)$   (9,085)$   

Net book value: 2,859$    2,865$     

8. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to market risk from changes in 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and commodity prices. To manage the exposure to 
those risks, the Company generally identifies its net exposure and utilizes transactions 
which can mitigate market risks. Additionally, the Company enters into various derivative 
transactions pursuant to the Company’s risk management policies in response to 
counterparty exposure and to hedge specific risks. The types of derivatives used by the 
Company are primarily interest rate swaps, commodity swaps, commodity forward and 
futures contracts. 

Commodity Forward and Futures—The Company is exposed to price fluctuations of 
various commodities used in its trading activities. The Company enters into commodity 
forward and futures contracts to reduce its exposures to price fluctuations on certain of its 
long-term commitments and inventory positions in such commodities. The Company 
utilizes commodity futures contracts that qualify as cash flow hedges to hedge certain 
commodity premium fluctuation risk. The effective portion of changes in the fair values of 
the commodity futures contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges is deferred and 
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated in “Cash flow hedges” 
in equity. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair values of commodity futures contracts 
that are designated as cash flow hedge is recognized directly in statements of profit and 
loss. 

The Company also utilizes commodity futures contracts that qualify as fair value hedges 
and designated such contracts to hedge the price fluctuation risk of precious metals, and 
the changes in the fair value of the futures contracts and inventories are included in “Cost 
of Revenue from Operating Activities” in the accompanying statements of profit and loss. 
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Commodity Swaps—The Company is exposed to fluctuation in Ethylene price and bunker 
price, which is part of shipping cost. The Company entered into commodity swaps that 
qualify as cash flow hedges to hedge the risk of Ethylene price and bunker price 
fluctuation. The effective portion of changes in the fair values of commodity swaps is 
deferred and recognized in the “Cash flow hedges” in equity. Ineffective portions of 
changes in the fair values of the commodity swaps is recognized directly in statements of 
profit and loss. 

Financial Swaps—The Company’s financing, investing, and cash management activities 
are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. 
The Company designated interest rate swaps used to convert certain fixed-rate assets to 
floating-rate assets as fair value hedge to hedge changes in U.S. LIBOR interest rates, and 
the changes in the fair value of these swaps are included in “Sundry loss—net” in the 
accompanying statements of profit and loss. 

For all derivatives designated as fair value hedges and cash flow hedges, the Company 
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, as well 
as the risk management objective and strategy for using the hedging instrument. 
Whenever practical, the Company designates specific exposures to qualify for hedge 
accounting. In these circumstances, in order to assess whether the changes in fair values 
or cash flows of hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items, both at the inception of the hedge and on an on-
going basis, the Company confirms the economic relationship between the hedging 
instruments and the hedged items by qualitative assessment which confirms whether the 
critical terms of the hedging instruments and hedged items match or are closely aligned or 
quantitative assessment which confirms that the hedging instruments and the hedged 
items have values that will move in the opposite direction because of the same risk. The 
effect of credit risk on the hedging relationship is immaterial. When the hedging 
relationship is expected to result in ineffectiveness, the Company measures the hedge 
ineffectiveness by the quantitative method. As the Company performs hedges which are 
highly effective, the amount of hedge ineffectiveness is immaterial. 

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Company determines the hedge ratio of 
the hedging relationship based on quantity of the hedged items and the quantity of the 
hedging instruments, which are generally one to one. If a hedging relationship ceases to 
meet the hedge effectiveness requirement but the risk management objective remains the 
same, the Company adjusts the hedge ratio determined at the inception of the hedging 
relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again. When the risk management 
objective for a hedging relationship is changed, the Company discontinues applying hedge 
accounting. 
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Impact of Fair Value Hedges on the Statements of Financial Position—The following 
are the fair values (on a gross basis) and nominal amounts of derivative instruments 
designated as fair value hedge as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 as well as the changes in 
fair values for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Derivative Designated Account in the  
as Fair Value Hedge Statements of Financial Position 2021 2020

Interest rate swap Other financial assets -$                   2$         
(Interest rate risks) Other noncurrent financial assets 89                   1           

Other financial liabilities 59                   17         
Other noncurrent financial liabilities 1,276              2,178    

Other Information                                 

  Change in fair value 946                 (2,354)   
  Nominal amounts 84,893            86,799  

Derivative Designated Account in the  March 31,
as Fair Value Hedge Statements of Financial Position 2021

Futures contract Other financial assets 101,572$         
(Commodity price risk) Other noncurrent financial assets -                     

Other financial liabilities 41,855            
Other noncurrent financial liabilities -                     

Other Information                      

  Change in fair value (40,918)           
  Nominal amounts 22,294,850 TOZ

March 31,
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The following are the carrying amounts and the accumulated amount of fair value hedge 
adjustments included in the carrying amount of hedged items designated as fair value 
hedge as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 as well as the changes in values for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Account in the  
Hedged Item Statements of Financial Position 2021 2020

Loans receivable Notes and loans receivable
(Interest rate risks)   —Parent and group companies 7,059$      11,015$  

Noncurrent loans receivable from Parent and 
  group companies 79,080      77,977    

Other Information

Accumulated amount of fair value hedge 
  adjustments included in carrying amount 1,246$      2,193$    
Change in value (947)         2,355      

Account in the  March 31,
Hedged Item Statements of Financial Position 2021

Inventories Merchandise inventories 212,068$  
(Commodity price risk) Leased inventories 760,394    

Other Information

Accumulated amount of fair value hedge 
  adjustments included in carrying amount 40,918$    
Change in value 40,918      

March 31,

 

Impact of Fair Value Hedges on the Statements of Profit and Loss—The following 
are the gains or losses related to hedging activities designated as fair value hedge for the 
years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Derivative Designated Account in the Statements of
as Fair Value Hedge Profit and Loss 2021 2020

Interest rate swap Sundry loss (1)$   1$     
(Interest rate risks)  
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Impact of Cash Flow Hedges on the Statements of Financial Position—The following 
are the fair values (on a gross basis), balances in the cash flow hedge reserve and nominal 
amounts of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedge as of March 31, 2021 
and 2020 as well as the changes in fair values for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 
2020. 

Derivative Designated
as Cash Flow Hedge Other Information 2021 2020

Commodity swap   Change in fair value in OCI
(Bunker price fluctuation   (before tax effect of 19 in 2020) -$              (75)$            
risks)

Derivative Designated
as Cash Flow Hedge Other Information 2021 2020

Commodity swap   Change in fair value in OCI
(Ethylene price  (before tax effect of 102 in 2020) -               (409)            
fluctuation risks)

Derivative Designated Account in the  
as Cash Flow Hedge Statements of Financial Position 2021 2020

Commodity futures Other financial assets -               9,129           
(Commodity premium Other financial liabilities -               5,718           
fluctuation risks) AOCI

  —cash flow hedges -               2,558           

Other Information
Change in fair value in OCI
 (before tax effect of -100 in 2021
 and -381 in 2020) 401           1,523           
Nominal amounts -               4,800,000 BBL

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

 

The following is the change in value of the hedged item designated as cash flow hedge for 
the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Hedged Item Off Balance Sheet Item 2021 2020

Bunker price fluctuation
risks of shipping agreement Change in value -$           75$         

Ethylene price
fluctuation risks Change in value -$           409$       

Commodity premium
fluctuation risks Change in value (401)$      (1,523)$   

March 31,
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Impact of Cash Flow Hedges on the Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Loss)— 

Cash flow hedge 2021 2020

Amount of gain recognized in OCI 866$       779$       

Amount of (loss) gain reclassified from AOCI to
   statements of profit and loss (2,039)     5,936      

Amount of (loss) gain reclassified to Inventory (820)        401         

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income (1,993)$   7,116$     

9. BORROWINGS 

Borrowings (current liabilities) as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following: 

2021 2020

Loans from Parent and group companies 2,515,514$ 1,106,359$ 
Loans from financial institutions 152,102      350,001      
Commercial paper 920,000      870,000      

Total short-term borrowings 3,587,616$ 2,326,360$  

The following interest rates on current borrowings represent weighted-average rates on 
outstanding balances as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

2021 2020

Loans from Parent and group companies 0.2 %  0.8 %  

Loans from financial institutions 0.4   1.4   
Commercial paper 0.2   1.7   

Interest Rate

 

As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, noncurrent borrowings bore interest at both floating rates 
and fixed rates. Borrowings (noncurrent liabilities) as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 is 
composed of the following: 

2021 2020

Financial institutions—maturing through 2028—at  
  floating rates, principally 0.49% to 0.74% as of March 31, 2021
  and fixed rates 1.10% to 2.30% as of March 31, 2020 758,716$    560,000$    

           Total noncurrent liabilities 758,716      560,000      

Less current maturities (50,000)      (150,000)    

Noncurrent borrowings, less current maturities 708,716$    410,000$     
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The Company has certain financial debt covenants which have been complied with as of 
March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Company and MC entered into a keepwell agreement dated January 27, 2003, which is 
governed by the laws of the State of New York. The following is a summary of certain 
terms of the Company’s keepwell agreement: 

a. MC has agreed to make cash payments to the Company in amounts sufficient, 
together with other revenues of the Company, to cause the tangible net worth of the 
Company to be positive at all times. 

b. MC will maintain direct or indirect ownership of all the voting capital stock of the 
Company and will not pledge or grant any security interest in, or encumber, any such 
capital stock. 

c. MC will cause the Company to maintain sufficient liquidity to punctually meet the debt 
obligations issued by the Company in order to facilitate the raising of funds. 

MC has indicated that due to its superior creditworthiness, it is committed, and will 
continue, to fulfill obligations under the keepwell agreement until at least the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2022. 

The Company is a party to a joint revolving credit agreement whose termination date was 
April 4, 2021 together with MC in the amount of 1 Billion US Dollars, of which 200 Million 
US Dollars shall be dedicated and specifically available to the Company on a same day 
basis. There were no amounts outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. On April 2, 
2021, the joint revolving credit agreement was restated to extend one year. 

The Company and MC entered into a Commercial Paper Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement dated December 20, 2020, which is governed by the laws of the State of New 
York. MC (the “Guarantor”) guarantees payment in full, as and when the same becomes 
due and payable, of the principal of and interest, if any, on the promissory notes (the 
“Notes”) issued by the Company. In the event of a default in payment of principal of or 
interest on any Notes, the holders of such Notes, may institute legal proceedings directly 
against the Guarantor to enforce this Guarantee without first proceeding against the 
Company. 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Non-Cash
April 1, 2019 Cash Flows changes March 31, 2020

Current borrowings:
   Parent and group companies 865,798$     389,345$    (148,784)$   1,106,359$       
   Financial institutions 50,000         100,001     200,000      350,001            
   Commercial Paper 1,566,970    (696,970)    -                 870,000            
Lease liabilities -                  (19,021)      27,297        8,276               

Current maturities of 
   noncurrent borrowings 150,000       (150,000)    150,000      150,000            
Noncurrent borrowings 710,000       50,000       (350,000)     410,000            
Noncurrent lease liabilities -                  -                18,648        18,648             
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The majority of non-cash changes in “Current borrowings: Parent and group companies” is 
related to novation of borrowings. The Company serves as a regional treasury center for 
group companies in the United States. To enhance capital efficiency, the Company, the 
Parent and group companies may enter into novation agreements for loans and 
borrowings. A novation agreement is a contract between parties in which one of the parties 
transfers over all of its rights and obligations to another party. 

Non-Cash
April 1, 2020 Cash Flows changes March 31, 2021

Current borrowings:
   Parent and group companies 1,106,359$      1,414,142       (4,987)             2,515,514$      
   Financial institutions 350,001          (208,768)         10,869            152,102          
   Commercial Paper 870,000          50,000            -                 920,000          
Lease liabilities 8,276              (12,237)           14,402            10,441            

Current maturities of 
   noncurrent borrowings 150,000          -                 (100,000)         50,000            
Noncurrent borrowings 410,000          199,242          99,474            708,716          
Noncurrent lease liabilities 18,648            -                 1,691              20,339            

 

The majority of non-cash changes in “Current maturities of noncurrent borrowings” and 
“Noncurrent borrowings” is related to refinancing where the Company renews a borrowing 
contract at the same amount as the current borrowing contract and net settles the 
borrowing of new borrowing contract and payment of matured borrowing contract. 

10. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

10.1 Disaggregation of revenue—A breakdown of the revenue from contracts with 
customers as well as contracts that are outside the scope of IFRS 15 for the years 
ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows. 

Type of Contracts

Sales of 
Goods/Providing 

services 2021 2020

Sales of Goods  $   1,036,264  $   1,361,428 
Providing services            18,552            32,529 

Other -       3,103,191       2,340,975 

      4,158,007       3,734,932 

Contracts with Customers 
within the scope of IFRS 15

Total  

On March 5, 2019, IFRS Interpretation Committee, the interpretative body of the 
International Accounting Standards Board, concluded that IFRS 9 should be applied 
to the specific contracts to buy or sell non-financial item at fixed future price, as the 
consequence of discussion about physical settlement of contracts to buy or sell a 
non-financial item. 

Other revenue includes revenue from transactions in the scope of IFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments” (including the gross amount of revenue recognized from contracts to 
sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or another financial 
instruments, or by exchanging financial instruments at the time of delivery). Most 
performance obligations from contracts with customers have original expected 
duration of one year or less. The Company has applied a practical expedient under 
IFRS 15.121 and remaining performance obligation is not disclosed. 
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10.2 Receivables and contract liabilities related to contracts with customers—A 
breakdown of receivables and contract liabilities related to contracts with customers 
included in the following accounts in the statements of financial position as of 
March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows. 

2021 2020

Notes and loans receivable:
   Customers  $              9,456  $            68,911 

Trade and other receivables:
   Customers              696,498              506,753 
   Parent and group companies              164,699              141,060 
   Other                19,026                19,116 

Advances from customers                     383                  1,534  

Revenue recognized in the reporting period that was included in the Advances from 
customers at the beginning of the period are $1,534 and $2,052 for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

10.3 Impairment (loss) gain from contracts with customers—Impairment (losses) 
gains recognized on receivables arising from contracts with customers are $(1,026) 
and $1,046 for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

The Company sponsors a defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all of their 
employees. The benefit for this plan is based upon years of service, compensation at the 
time of severance and other factors. The plan is non-contributory and is designed to 
comply with the requirement of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
(“ERISA”). The plan is administered by the Retirement Plan Committee, which is appointed 
by the Board of Directors of the Company and primarily responsible for making investment 
policy. Participation to the defined benefit pension plan has been frozen since April 1, 
2014. The Company also provides postretirement medical benefits for eligible retired 
employees. Additionally, the Company provides certain nonqualified supplemental 
executive defined benefit pension plans to provide supplemental retirement benefit 
primarily to certain high-level employees. The Company used a March 31 year-end 
measurement date for the plans. 
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The following table provides key information pertaining to the Company’s defined benefit 
pension and other postretirement benefit plans as at March 31, 2021: 

Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement

Pension Plans Benefits Plans

Change in projected benefit obligation:
  Projected benefit obligation—beginning of year 87,408$  21,627$  
  Service cost -             71          
  Interest cost 2,900      718        
  Experience gain 221        (2,406)    
  Actuarial gain arising from change in demographic assumptions (744)       (245)       
  Actuarial loss arising from change in financial assumptions 2,085      544        
  Contributions by plan participants -             181        
  Benefits paid (4,427)    (1,139)    
  Other -             44          

           Projected benefit obligation—end of year 87,443    19,395    

Change in plan assets:
  Fair value of plan assets—beginning of year 61,380    -             
  Interest income 2,018      -             
  Net return on plan assets in excess of interest income 21,069    -             
  Contributions by plan participants -             181        
  Contributions by employer 70          914        
  Benefits paid (4,427)    (1,139)    
  Other -             44          

           Fair value of plan assets—end of year 80,110    -             

Reconciliation of funded status—end of year—funded status (7,333)$   (19,395)$  
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The following table provides key information pertaining to the Company’s defined benefit 
pension and other postretirement benefit plans as at March 31, 2020: 

Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement

Pension Plans Benefits Plans

Change in projected benefit obligation:
  Projected benefit obligation—beginning of year 87,262$    20,799$    
  Service cost -              71            
  Interest cost 3,367       802          
  Experience gain (887)         (184)         
  Actuarial gain arising from change in demographic assumptions (968)         (355)         
  Actuarial loss arising from change in financial assumptions 5,680       1,453       
  Contributions by plan participants -              171          
  Benefits paid (3,791)      (1,189)      
  Curtailment and settlement (3,255)      -              
  Other -              59            

           Projected benefit obligation—end of year 87,408     21,627      

Change in plan assets:
  Fair value of plan assets—beginning of year 69,016     -              
  Interest income 2,716       -              
  Net return on plan assets in excess of interest income (6,434)      -              
  Contributions by plan participants -              171          
  Contributions by employer 3,128       959          
  Benefits paid (3,791)      (1,189)      
  Curtailment and settlement (3,255)      -              
  Other -              59            

           Fair value of plan assets—end of year 61,380     -              

Reconciliation of funded status—end of year—funded status (26,028)$  (21,627)$   
 

The amount of employee benefits expense included in the statements of profit and loss was 
$1,671 and $1,524 for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Amounts recognized in the statements of financial position as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 
consist of the following: 

Defined Other Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement Benefit Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits

Plans Plans Plans Plans

Other current liabilities (69)$       (1,085)$     (70)$         (1,046)$    
Other noncurrent liabilities (7,264)    (18,310)     (25,958)     (20,581)    

Total accrued pension liability (7,333)$   (19,395)$   (26,028)$   (21,627)$  

20202021
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Investment Policy—Plan Assets—The Company’s investment policy for its defined benefit 
pension plans is to procure an adequate return to provide future payments of pension 
benefits over the long term by optimizing risk tolerance and formulating a well-diversified 
portfolio, including investments, such as equity instruments, debt securities, and 
alternative assets. Considering the funded status of the pension plans and surrounding 
economic environment for investments, the Company’s investment strategy may be 
revised as needed. Moreover, the Company continuously monitors and pays extra attention 
to the diversification strategies for the purpose of risk control and thereby pursues efficient 
risk management. 

The equity securities are selected primarily from stocks that are listed on the securities 
exchanges. Prior to investing, the Company has investigated the business condition of the 
investee companies and appropriately diversified investments by type of industry and other 
relevant factors. The debt securities are selected primarily from government bonds, public 
debt instruments, and corporate bonds. Prior to investing, the Company has investigated 
the quality of the issue, including rating, interest rate, and repayment dates, and has 
appropriately diversified the investments. As for investments in life insurance company 
general accounts, the contracts with the insurance companies include a guaranteed 
interest rate and return of capital. The Company’s policy is to allocate pension plan funds 
within a range of percentages for each major asset category as follows: 

Percentage
Range

Equity securities 50–70%
Debt securities/fixed income 30–50%

 

The Company may direct the transfer of assets between investment managers in order to 
rebalance the portfolio in accordance with the asset allocation ranges above to accomplish 
the investment objectives for the pension plan assets. 

Fair Value of Plan Assets by Type—A breakdown of the Company’s pension plan assets 
as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

2021 2020

Plan assets that have a quoted market price in an active market:
  Mutual Fund:
    Shares for particular country or region 16,993   -               
      Total 16,993   -               

Plan assets that do not have a quoted market price in an active market:
  Equity instruments:
    US stocks 24,618   31,160   
    International stocks 8,490     5,842     
  Debt instruments—US bonds 15,926   14,768   
  Life insurance company general accounts 14,083   9,610     
      Total 63,117   61,380   

Total plan assets 80,110   61,380   
 

The life insurance company general accounts consist of investments such as privately 
placed debt securities, mortgage loans and real estate. 
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The debt and equity instruments are invested through mutual fund and pooled separate 
accounts, respectively. The mutual fund is valued at daily closing price as reported by the 
fund based on the net asset value. The pooled separate accounts are valued at unit value 
reported by investment manager based on accumulated values of underlying investments. 
Life insurance company general accounts are valued at fair value by discounting the 
related cash flows based on current yields of similar instruments with comparable 
durations considering the credit-worthiness of the issuer. 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions—The following weighted-average assumptions were 
used to determine benefit obligations for the defined benefit pension plans and the other 
postretirement benefit plans at March 31, 2021 and 2020: 

Defined Other Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement Benefit Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits

Plans Plans Plans Plans

Discount rate 2.95%-3.20% 3.15%-3.20% 3.25%-3.40% 3.40%
Initial health care cost
  trend rate 4.75%-8.1% 4.75%-8.65%
Ultimate health care cost
  trend rate 4.75% 4.75%
Year in which ultimate
  rate is reached 2021-2027 2018-2027

2021 2020

 

Analysis of Sensitivity to Significant Actuarial Assumptions—The discount rate was 
determined by projecting the plan’s expected future benefit payments as defined for the 
defined benefit obligation, discounting those expected payments using a theoretical zero-
coupon spot yield curve derived from a universe of high-quality bonds as of the 
measurement date, and solving for the single equivalent discount rate that resulted in the 
same defined benefit obligation. A one-percentage-point change in the discount rate would 
have the following effects: 

One-Percentage One-Percentage One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on defined 
  benefit obligation $10,000 decrease $11,000 increase $10,000 decrease $12,000 increase

2021 2020

 

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain fixed, however, in fact, the discount 
rate does not always change independently. 
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for 
the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend 
rates would have the following effects: 

One-Percentage One-Percentage One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on other 
  postretirement
  benefit obligation $2,094 increase $1,765 decrease $2,835 increase $2,332 decrease

2021 2020

 

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain fixed, however, in fact, the health 
care cost trend rate does not always change independently. 

Contributions—The Company’s funding policy is to contribute to provide not only for 
benefits attributable to service to date, but also for those expected to be earned in the 
future. The Company expects to contribute approximately $70 to its defined benefit 
pension plans during the year ending March 31, 2022. 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments—Benefit payments for the defined benefit pension 
plans and other postretirement benefits plans for the next 10 years are expected to be as 
follows: 

Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement

Pension Plans Benefits Plans

2022 4,600$  1,085$ 
2023 4,651    1,109  
2024 4,717    1,137  
2025 4,794    1,152  
2026 4,872    1,164  
2027-2031 24,536  5,725  

 

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation for Defined Benefit Pension Plans 
and Other Postretirement Benefits Plans as of March 31, 2021 are 12.48 years and 
11.60 years, respectively. The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation for 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits Plans as of March 31, 
2020 are 12.91 years and 12.80 years, respectively. 

Defined Contribution Plan—The Company has a defined contribution plan. The expense 
related to the defined contribution plan was $1,294 and $1,445 for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and recognized in “Selling, general, and 
administrative expense” in the statements of profit and loss. 
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12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

The following table presents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

March 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Netting Total

Assets:
  Financial assets measured at FVPL -      $        -      $          1,715$     -      $         1,715$         
  Financial assets measured at FVOCI -                  264          -                 264              
  Merchandise inventories -               1,768,872     -              -                 1,768,872    
  Leased inventories -               2,656,313     -              -                 2,656,313    
  Commodity derivatives receivable 339,876     107,724        -              (241,800)     205,800       
  Currency and interest rate swap -               683              -              -                 683              
  Other noncurrent financial assets 64             -                  381          -                 445              

Total 339,940$   4,533,592$   2,360$     (241,800)$   4,634,092$   

Liabilities:
  Metal lease liabilities
  - Embedded Derivative -      $        50,798$        -      $      -      $         50,798$       
  Commodity derivatives payable 375,987     107,262        -              (241,800)     241,449       
  Currency and interest rate swap -               1,335           -              -                 1,335           

Total 375,987$   159,395$      -      $      (241,800)$   293,582$     

March 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Netting Total

Assets:
  Financial assets measured at FVPL -      $        -      $          1,899$     -      $         1,899$         
  Financial assets measured at FVOCI -                  3,351       -                 3,351           
  Merchandise inventories -               954,765        -              -                 954,765       
  Leased inventories -               2,259,886     -              -                 2,259,886    
  Commodity derivatives receivable 578,111     273,094        -              (346,128)     505,077       
  Currency and interest rate swap -               939              -              -                 939              
  Other noncurrent financial assets 334           -                  381          -                 715              

Total 578,445$   3,488,684$   5,631$     (346,128)$   3,726,632$   

Liabilities:
  Metal lease liabilities
  - Embedded Derivative -      $        141,538$      -      $      -      $         141,538$     
  Commodity derivatives payable 350,852     218,044        -              (346,128)     222,768       
  Currency and interest rate swap -               2,279           -              -                 2,279           

Total 350,852$   361,861$      -      $      (346,128)$   366,585$     
 

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is 
a significant component of the fair value measurement. There were no transfers between 
different levels during the years presented. 

“Metal lease liabilities—Embedded Derivative” is recognized in “Metal lease liabilities” in the 
statements of financial position. 

Commodity derivative receivable and payable as well as Currency and interest rate swap 
are recognized in “Other financial assets”, “Other noncurrent financial assets”, “Other 
financial liabilities”, or “Other noncurrent financial liabilities” in the statements of financial 
position. 
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Gain (loss) on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows. Please refer to Note 8 for gains and losses on 
hedges. 

Derivatives not Designated as
 Hedging Instruments Statement of Profit and Loss Location 2021 2020

Commodity—Nonferrous metal Revenues and Cost of revenue from (69,307)$ 62,590$  
   operating activities

Commodity—Precious metal Revenues and Cost of revenue from (408,030) 17,335    
   operating activities

Commodity—Petroleum Revenues and Cost of revenue from (5,517)    (22,362)   
   operating activities

Derivatives not Designated as
 Hedging Instruments Statement of Profit and Loss Location 2021 2020

Foreign exchange forward Sundry loss (342)$     936$       
Interest rate swap Sundry loss 84          (91)         

Finance income -             69          
Finance costs (103)       66          

 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities that are measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Net Change
in Unrealized

Realized and Realized and Increase Decrease Gains
Balance— Unrealized Unrealized Due to Due to Balance— (Losses) Still
Beginning Included in Included in Purchases Sales and End of Held at

Year Ended March 31, 2021 of Year Earnings OCI and Other Other Year End of Year

Financial assets measured at FVPL 1,899$    (180)$    - $        - $       (4)$            1,715$    (180)$   
Financial assets measured at FVOCI 3,351      -           (724)      -          (2,363)       264        -          
Other noncurrent financial assets—
  measured at FVPL 381         -           -           -          -               381        -          

Total 5,631$    (180)$    (724)$    - $       (2,367)$     2,360$    (180)$   

Net Change
in Unrealized

Realized and Realized and Increase Decrease Gains
Balance— Unrealized Unrealized Due to Due to Balance— (Losses) Still
Beginning Included in Included in Purchases Sales and End of Held at

Year Ended March 31, 2020 of Year Earnings OCI and Other Other Year End of Year

Financial assets measured at FVPL 13,733$  2,032$   - $        - $       (13,866)$    1,899$    1,861$ 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI 3,686      -           (335)      -          -               3,351      (335)     
Other noncurrent financial assets—
  measured at FVPL 381         -           -           -          -               381        -          

Total 17,800$  2,032$   (335)$    - $       (13,866)$    5,631$    1,526$  

(Loss) gain on other investments included in net income is recognized in “(Loss) gain on 
investments” in the statements of profit and loss. The net gains or net losses on items at 
fair value through profit or loss include dividend income. The amount recognized as other 
comprehensive income (loss) for other investments measured at FVOCI is included in 
“Losses on other investments designated as FVOCI” in the statements of comprehensive 
income (loss). 
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The following table represents the amounts recorded for the years ended March 31, 2021 
and 2020: 

2021 2020

(Losses) gains on investments:
  Financial assets measured at FVPL (180)$  2,032$ 

Total (losses) gains on investments (180)$  2,032$  

Financial assets measured at FVPL or FVOCI—Financial assets classified in Level 1 are 
marketable equity securities valued at the quoted market price in an active market and 
Level 3 are non-marketable equity securities primarily valued by net asset value per share 
of investees. The fair values of other investments classified in Level 3 are processed by 
personnel in the accounting department of the Company, with information on the net asset 
value per share of the investees, information on the future cash flows of the investees, or 
independent third party appraisals, depending on the accessibility to the information. 

Merchandise inventories—Merchandise inventories are precious metals, nonferrous 
metals and crude oil held for trading purposes, and are classified in Level 2 as they are 
valued by pricing models using observable inputs such as commodity prices. The fair 
values of these inventories include costs to sell, which are immaterial. 

Leased inventories and Metal lease liabilities—Leased inventories and Metal lease 
liabilities are related to precious metals lease and are classified in Level 2 as they are 
valued by pricing models using observable inputs such as commodity prices. The metal 
lease liabilities contain embedded derivative portion of metal lease contracts. 

Commodity derivative (payable and receivable) and Currency and interest rate 
swap—Derivatives classified in Level 1 are comprised principally of commodity derivative 
contracts traded on exchanges market, which are valued using quoted prices. Derivatives 
classified in Level 2 are comprised principally of financial swaps and commodity derivative 
contracts traded in over-the-counter markets, which are valued by pricing models using 
observable market inputs such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity 
prices. Credit risks are adjusted in the net balance of derivative assets and liabilities. 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. 

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments measured at amortized 
cost are summarized as follows: 

The carrying amounts of time deposits, current notes and loans receivable, trade and other 
receivables, lease receivable, other financial assets (excluding derivatives), noncurrent 
loans receivable from Parent and group companies, other noncurrent financial assets 
(excluding derivatives), noncurrent lease receivable, current borrowings (including 
commercial paper and current maturities of noncurrent borrowings), Trade and other 
payables (including short-term notes), Commodity financing arrangement, other financial 
liabilities (excluding derivatives), and other noncurrent financial liabilities (excluding 
derivatives) approximate fair value because of their short-term maturities. Other 
noncurrent financial liabilities are primarily deposit liabilities and derivatives. The carrying 
amount of deposit liabilities are $19,378 and $19,530 as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, 
which approximates fair value. Other financial assets are primarily guarantee deposits, 
payments for others and derivatives. The carrying amounts of guarantee deposits are 
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$222,895 and $24,713 as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The carrying amount 
of payments for others are $9,815 and $25,046 as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

For noncurrent borrowing, the fair values are based on current rates at which the Company 
could borrow funds with similar remaining maturities. The carrying value of long-term debt 
approximates fair value due to the variable rates of these liabilities. The carrying value of 
long-term receivables approximates fair value as the interest rates of these assets are 
based on current rates. 

Other Investments—The following is a breakdown of the carrying amounts of other 
investments as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

2021 2020

FVPL 1,715$  1,899$  
FVOCI 264       3,351    

Total 1,979$  5,250$   

The following is a breakdown of the fair values of other investments measured at FVOCI as 
of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

2021 2020

Nonmarketable 264$    3,351$    

Total 264$    3,351$     

Nonmarketable securities consisted of the following: 

Security Name 2021 2020

Jamco America, Inc. -$        3,087$ 
Other 264     264     

Total 264$    3,351$ 
 

With respect to other investments measured at FVOCI derecognized as a result of sale, the 
fair value at the time of derecognition for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows. 

2021 2020

Fair value at the time of derecognition 2,363$  670$ 
 

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—The Company has derivative 
transactions subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement with 
counterparties. In general, the terms of the agreements provide that in the event of an 
early termination the counter parties have the right to offset amounts owed or owing under 
that and any other agreement with the same counter party. 
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The amount of financial assets and financial liabilities for which the Company has offset 
and presented in the statements of financial position as well as amount not offset in the 
statements of financial position that are subject to an enforceable master netting 
agreement or similar agreement as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

March 31, 2021

Amount
Gross Presented

Amount Offset Amount in the Cash
of Assets Financial Statements of Financial Collateral Net

Financial Assets (Before Offset) Instruments Financial Position Instruments Payables Amount

Derivatives 448,283$  (241,800)$   206,483$  (74,084)$  (11,557)$   120,842$  

Total 448,283$  (241,800)$   206,483$  (74,084)$  (11,557)$   120,842$  

Amount not offset in the
Statements

of Financial Position

 

The “Derivatives” above comprises of $205,510 of Other financial assets, and $973 of 
Other noncurrent financial assets in the statements of financial position. The “Cash 
Collateral Payables” above is futures margin or cash collateral associated with derivative 
transactions. 

Amount
Gross Offset Amount Presented

Amount in the Cash
of Liabilities Financial Statements of Financial Collateral Net

Financial Liabilities (Before Offset) Instruments Financial Position Instruments Receivables Amount

Derivatives 484,584$    (241,800)$   242,784$    (74,084)$   (85,666)$   83,034$    

Total 484,584$    (241,800)$   242,784$    (74,084)$   (85,666)$   83,034$    

Amount not offset in the
 Statements

of Financial Position

 

The “Derivatives” above comprises of $233,466 of Other financial liabilities, and $9,318 of 
Other noncurrent financial liabilities in the statements of financial position. The “Cash 
Collateral Receivables” above is futures margin or cash collateral associated with derivative 
transactions. 

March 31, 2020

Amount
Gross Presented

Amount Offset Amount in the Cash
of Assets Financial Statements of Financial Collateral Net

Financial Assets (Before Offset) Instruments Financial Position Instruments Payables Amount

Derivatives 852,144$    (346,128)$ 506,016$   (53,082)$    (186,471)$   266,463$   

Total 852,144$    (346,128)$ 506,016$   (53,082)$    (186,471)$   266,463$   

Amount not offset in the
 Statements

of Financial Position
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The “Derivatives” above comprises of $502,842 of Other financial assets, and $3,174 of 
Other noncurrent financial assets in the statements of financial position. The “Cash 
Collateral Payables” above is futures margin or cash collateral associated with derivative 
transactions. 

Amount
Gross Offset Amount Presented

Amount in the Cash
of Liabilities Financial Statements of Financial Collateral Net

Financial Liabilities (Before Offset) Instruments Financial Position Instruments Receivables Amount

Derivatives 571,175$   (346,128)$    225,047$   (53,082)$    (2,412)$   169,553$   

Total 571,175$   (346,128)$    225,047$   (53,082)$    (2,412)$   169,553$   

Amount not offset in the
Statements

of Financial Position

 

The “Derivatives” above comprises of $211,818 of Other financial liabilities, and $13,229 of 
Other noncurrent financial liabilities in the statements of financial position. The “Cash 
Collateral Receivables” above is futures margin or cash collateral associated with derivative 
transactions. 

13. RISK MANAGEMENT RELATED TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Interest Rate Risk Management—The Company’s financing, investing and cash 
management activities are exposed to risks associated with changes in interest rates. In 
order to manage these exposures, the Company enters into interest rate swap contracts. 
Interest rate swaps are used to convert fixed-rate assets to floating-rate assets. 

The Company had gross interest-bearing liabilities of $4,377,112 and $2,913,284 as of 
March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Because almost all of these liabilities bear floating 
interest rates, there is a risk of an increase in interest expenses caused by a rise in interest 
rates. 

The majority of these interest-bearing liabilities correspond to trade receivables, loan 
receivable and other operating assets that are positively affected by changes in interest 
rates. Because a rise in interest rates produces an increase in income from these assets, 
while there is a time lag, interest rate risk is mitigated. For the remaining interest-bearing 
liabilities exposed to interest rate risk without such offsets, commensurate asset holdings 
such as investment securities, property and equipment generate trading income and other 
income streams, such as dividends, that are strongly correlated with economic cycles. 
Accordingly, even if interest rates increase through economic improvement, leading to 
higher interest expenses, the Company believes that these expenses would be offset by an 
increase in income from the corresponding asset holdings. 

However, the Company’s operating results may be negatively impacted temporarily if there 
is a rapid rise in interest rates because increased income from commensurate asset 
holdings would fail to offset the effects of a preceding increase in interest expenses. 

Assuming that the interest rate increased/decreased by 1% as of March 31, 2021 and 
2020, their impacts on net income and total equity would not be material. 

Commodity Price Risk Management—The Company is exposed to fluctuations in 
commodity prices associated with various commodities used in its trading and other 
operating activities. The Company enters into commodity futures, forwards, options and 
swap contracts to hedge the variability in commodity prices in accordance with its risk 
management procedures. The Company believes that such contracts effectively hedge the 
impact of the variability in commodity prices. 
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As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not perform commodity derivative 
transactions other than those for hedging purposes as a general rule. Therefore, the risk 
exposure pertaining to the net position of derivative transactions and transactions being 
hedged, and the impact of commodity price fluctuations on net income and total equity 
were immaterial. 

Commodity Premium Risk Management—The Company is exposed to fluctuations in 
commodity premium in its operation. To hedge commodity premium fluctuation risk of 
purchase/sale contracts, the Company enters into commodity future contracts. These 
contracts are designated as hedging instruments and the Company applies hedge 
accounting. The Company believes that such contracts effectively hedge the impact of 
fluctuation in commodity premium and ineffective portion of the hedge would not be 
material. 

Credit Risk Management—The Company has exposure to credit risk arising from 
extending credit terms to its customers in various business transactions with them. In case 
of deterioration in the credit of or bankruptcy of customers, the risk exposure causes the 
Company credit losses. To manage the credit risk, the Company has maintained credit and 
transaction limits for each customer with an internal rating system. According to the 
internal rules corresponding to the internal ratings and the amount of credit, the Company 
also requires collateral or a guarantee depending on the credit profile of the counterparty. 

In spite of the various engagements in various businesses and industries, the Company 
has assessed the nature and characteristics of the credit risk based on a single consistent 
method, and has managed its credit risk without classification corresponding to the 
business types or the industries of the customers. The Company has considered the 
customers’ financial position could offer the relevant and sufficient information on the 
assessment of the Company’s credit risk because the Company has estimated its credit risk 
has been insignificant relatively, compared to its market risk. 

The Company has no exposure to credit risks that are over-concentrated in a single 
counterparty or a group to which the counterparty belongs. 

The following is a rollforward of loss allowances calculated based on ECL model under IFRS 
9 for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Loss allowances—Lifetime ECL 2021 2020

Balances—beginning of year 11,381$   12,442$   

  Changes in allowance due to change in credit
    risk and AR balance 1,020      (1,041)     
  Write-offs (438)       (20)         

Balances—end of year 11,963$   11,381$   

 

The carrying amounts of Notes and loans receivable, Trade and other receivables, Lease 
receivable, Other financial assets (excluding derivatives), Noncurrent loans receivable from 
parent and group companies, Noncurrent lease receivable and Other noncurrent financial 
assets (excluding derivatives) in the statements of financial position approximate the 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 
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Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements—The Company holds 
collateral or other credit enhancements to mitigate credit risk associated with financial 
assets. These collaterals or credit enhancements reduce the amount of loss allowance that 
the Company has to recognize. The main types of credit enhancements are listed below. 

Type of credit enhancements 

 Letter of credit: A letter of credit is provided to the Company that would allow the 
Company to draw fund from a reputable bank if the customer fails to pay. 

 Letter of guarantee: A customer who lacks resources or credit usually needs to provide 
letter of guarantee in order to transact with the Company. The letter of guarantee is 
usually issued from the parent company of the customer. 

Below is a breakdown of gross carrying amounts of Notes and loans receivables, Trade and 
other receivables, Lease receivable, Other financial assets (excluding derivatives), 
Noncurrent loans receivable from parent and group companies, Noncurrent lease 
receivable and Other noncurrent financial assets (excluding derivatives) by credit ratings 
as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Credit Rating 2021 2020

   G $3,026,117 $2,209,570

   N 407,393 232,952

   W 222,601 213,734

Total gross carrying amount 3,656,111 2,656,256

Loss allowance 11,963 11,381

Carrying amount $3,644,148 $2,644,875  

Liquidity Risk Management—The Company’s basic policy concerning the procurement of 
funds to support business activities is to procure funds in a stable and cost-effective 
manner. For funding purposes, the Company selects and utilizes, as needed, both direct 
financing, such as commercial paper, and indirect financing, including bank loans. The 
Company seeks to use the most advantageous means, according to market conditions at 
the time. The Company has a strong reputation in capital markets and with regard to 
indirect financing, the Company maintains a good relationship with a broad range of 
financial institutions. This diversity allows the Company to procure funds on terms that are 
cost competitive. 
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The breakdown of financial liabilities and metal lease liabilities by due date as of March 31, 
2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

Due After
Due In 1 Year 1 Year Through Due After

March 31, 2021 or Less 5 Years 5 Years Total

Borrowings 3,637,616$ 559,243$    149,473$ 4,346,332$ 
Derivatives 233,466      9,267         51           242,784      
Lease liabilities 10,441       11,755       8,584      30,780       
Metal Lease liabilities 2,347,401   -                2,347,401   

Due After
Due In 1 Year 1 Year Through Due After

March 31, 2020 or Less 5 Years 5 Years Total

Borrowings 2,476,360$ 230,000$    180,000$ 2,886,360$ 
Derivatives 211,818      12,969       260         225,047      
Lease liabilities 8,276         9,097         9,551      26,924       
Metal Lease liabilities 1,494,895   -                1,494,895   

 

For details on the nature of metal lease liabilities, refer to Note 3.5. 

The Company is a party to a joint revolving credit agreement together with the Parent, as 
detailed in Note 9. 

14. INCOME TAXES 

The provision for income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 relating to 
continuing operations, consists of the following: 

2021 2020

Current:
  In respect of the current year 19,593$   27,861$   
  In respect of prior years 1,005       1,227       

           Total current 20,598     29,088     

Deferred:
  In respect of the current year (2,348)     1,805       
  In respect of prior years (3,805)     (6,314)     
  Write-downs (reversals of previous write-downs)
    of deferred tax assets 3,272       -              

           Total deferred (2,881)     (4,509)     

Total tax provision 17,717$   24,579$    
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The difference between the actual income tax expense and income tax expense computed 
by applying the US federal statutory rate to pretax income (which includes equity in 
earnings of affiliates) for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, is explained as 
follows: 

2021 2020

US federal statutory rate 21.00 %    21.00 %    
Change in the recoverability of deferred tax assets 4.25       0.13       
State taxes (net of Federal tax benefit) (1.13)      0.06       
Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes 0.05       0.10       
Refund of tax credit from MCA -             (0.21)      
Federal Tax True-up 1.00       (0.32)      
Foreign derived intangible income deduction (2.49)      (1.51)      
Others (0.09)      0.49       

Average effective tax rate 22.59 %    19.74 %    
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

2021 2020

Deferred tax assets 25,227$  30,296$  
Deferred tax liabilities (9,131)    (12,609)   

Total net deferred tax assets 16,096$  17,687$  
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The following table presents the changes in deferred tax for the years ended March 31, 
2021 and 2020. 

Balance— Balance—
Beginning Recognized in Recognized in End of

Year Ended March 31, 2021 of Year Earnings OCI Year

Deferred tax in relation to:
  Pension 11,982$  172$        (5,403)$   6,751$     
  Bad debt write-off 2,844     267          -             3,111      
  Net operating loss carryforward 4,923     (3,074)      -             1,849      
  Depreciation, amortization, and depletion (392)       17            -             (375)        
  Investments (5,438)    2,904       266         (2,268)     
  Hedge Transaction (853)       -              665         (188)        
  Undistributed retained earnings from
    affiliated companies (34)         -              -             (34)          
  Foreign exchange gain/loss (158)       207          -             49           
  Other 4,813     2,388       -             7,201      

Total 17,687$  2,881$     (4,472)$   16,096$   

Balance— Balance—
Beginning Recognized in Recognized in End of

Year Ended March 31, 2020 of Year Earnings OCI Year

Deferred tax in relation to:
  Pension 9,830$    (641)$       2,793$    11,982$   
  Bad debt write-off 3,109     (265)        -             2,844      
  Office sublease loss write-off 1,193     (1,055)      -             138         
  Net operating loss carryforward and
    alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 6,097     (1,174)      -             4,923      
  Depreciation, amortization, and depletion (251)       (141)        -             (392)        
  Investments (5,074)    (545)        181         (5,438)     
  Hedge Transaction 1,519     -              (2,372)     (853)        
  Undistributed retained earnings from
    affiliated companies (34)         -              -             (34)          
  Foreign exchange gain/loss (254)       96            -             (158)        
  Application of IFRS 16 (Beginning balance adj.) (581)       -              -             (581)        
  Other (2,978)    8,234       -             5,256      

Total 12,576$  4,509$     602$       17,687$    

As required by IAS 12, Income Taxes, the Company periodically evaluates the likelihood of 
the realization of deferred tax assets and reduces the carrying amount of these deferred 
tax assets to the extent that the Company believes a portion will not be realized. The 
Company considers many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization of the 
deferred tax assets, including its recent cumulative earnings experience, expectations of 
future income, the carryforward periods available for tax reporting periods, and other 
relevant factors. 

In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it 
is probable that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Based 
upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over 
the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, the Company recognized 
deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences, tax losses and tax credits where 
it is probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
The underlying assumptions used in forecasting future taxable income require significant 
judgment and take into account the Company’s recent performance. 
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The amount of deductible temporary differences in domestic jurisdictions regarding 
unrealized capital loss of certain investments for which no deferred tax asset realized was 
$1,778 and $1,533 as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company’s capital 
losses are only deductible against capital gains and the Company does not anticipate 
having the ability to generate sufficient capital gains in the future to realize such capital 
losses. The deductible temporary differences have no expiration date. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized for the Company’s US state NOL 
carryforwards of $34,643 expiring in the periods beginning in 2033 through 2038 as of 
March 31, 2021 and $2,324 as of March 31, 2020, respectively, because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the benefits 
therefrom. 

As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, taxable (deductible) temporary differences in relation to 
investments in associates for which deferred tax liabilities (assets) have not been 
recognized are ($8,648) and ($8,282), respectively. 

The Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying statements 
of financial position as of March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Company files income tax returns in the various states, and Canada jurisdiction. The 
Company believes it is filing in all jurisdictions deemed necessary and appropriate. 

From a federal tax return perspective, the Company is a member of the consolidated tax 
returns filed through MCA from April 1, 2012. Under the tax allocation agreement with 
MCA, the Company is required to pay to MCA as its share of the federal income tax liability 
of the MCA Consolidated Group, an amount equal to the federal income tax liability that 
would have been payable by the Company for such year if it had filed a separate income 
tax return for such year. Such payment shall be reduced by foreign tax and general 
business credits generated by the Company within such tax year. 

MCA and its US subsidiaries file income tax returns with US federal, states and foreign 
jurisdictions. The Company is subject to US federal income tax examinations, as a member 
of the MCA consolidated tax filing, by tax authorities for the year ended March 31, 2018 
and subsequent years. 

The Company does not expect any significant changes to the estimated amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits through the next 12 months. 
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15. SELLING, GENERAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Selling, general and administrative expenses are recorded according to their functions due 
to different economic activities and businesses of the Company. The nature of Selling, 
general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, are as 
follows: 

2021 2020

Personnel expenses (33,396)$ (37,415)$ 
Facilities expenses (6,646)    (5,519)    
Information and communication expenses (7,680)    (7,428)    
Transportation and entertainment expenses (551)       (4,337)    
Miscellaneous expenses (9,722)    (8,265)    

Total (57,995)$ (62,964)$  

The amount of depreciation and amortization expenses included in Facilities expenses and 
Information and communication expenses for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, 
was $(6,931) and $(5,280), respectively. 

16. SUNDRY LOSS—NET 

Sundry loss—net for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, consisted of the following: 

2021 2020

Foreign exchange gain (loss)—net 194$     (966)$   
(Loss) gain from financial derivative (259)     846      
Other—net (2,610)   (504)     

Total (2,675)$ (624)$    
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17. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020, are as follows: 

Before After
2021 Tax Tax Tax

Other investments designated as FVOCI:
  Balances—beginning of year 1,063$    (266)$    797$       

  Other comprehensive loss (724)       181       (543)       
  Transfer to retained earnings (339)       85        (254)       

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (1,063)    266       (797)       

Balances—end of year - $          - $        - $          

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliated company:
  Balances—beginning of year 3,818$    - $        3,818$    

  Other comprehensive income -             -           -             
  Transfer to retained earnings -             -           -             

           Net current period other comprehensive income -             -           -             

Balances—end of year 3,818$    - $        3,818$    

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans:
  Balances—beginning of year - $          - $        - $          

  Other comprehensive income 21,613    (5,403)   16,210    
  Transfer to retained earnings (21,613)   5,403    (16,210)   

           Net current period other comprehensive income -             -           -             

Balances—end of year - $          - $        - $          

Exchange differences on translating foreign affiliates:
  Balances—beginning of year (8,282)$   - $        (8,282)$   

  Other comprehensive loss (366)       -           (366)       

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (366)       -           (366)       

Balances—end of year (8,648)$   - $        (8,648)$   

Cash flow hedges:
  Balances—beginning of year 3,411$    (853)$    2,558$    

  Other comprehensive loss (2,658)    665       (1,993)    

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (2,658)    665       (1,993)    

  Balances—end of year 753$       (188)$    565$       
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Before After
2020 Tax Tax Tax

Other investments designated as FVOCI:
  Balances—beginning of year 1,856$     (464)$    1,392$    

  Other comprehensive loss (284)         84        (200)       
  Transfer to retained earnings (509)         114       (395)       

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (793)         198       (595)       

Balances—end of year 1,063$     (266)$    797$       

Share of other comprehensive loss of affiliated company:
  Balances—beginning of year 4,403$     - $        4,403$    

  Other comprehensive loss (347)         -           (347)       
  Transfer to retained earnings (238)         -           (238)       

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (585)         -           (585)       

Balances—end of year 3,818$     - $        3,818$    

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans:
  Balances—beginning of year - $           - $        - $          

  Other comprehensive loss (11,171)    2,793    (8,378)    
  Transfer to retained earnings 11,171     (2,793)   8,378      

           Net current period other comprehensive income -              -           -             

Balances—end of year - $           - $        - $          

Exchange differences on translating foreign affiliates:
  Balances—beginning of year (6,660)$    - $        (6,660)$   

  Other comprehensive loss (1,622)      -           (1,622)    

           Net current period other comprehensive loss (1,622)      -           (1,622)    

Balances—end of year (8,282)$    - $        (8,282)$   

Cash flow hedges:
  Balances—beginning of year (6,077)$    1,519$  (4,558)$   

  Other comprehensive income 9,488       (2,372)   7,116      

           Net current period other comprehensive income 9,488       (2,372)   7,116      

  Balances—end of year 3,411$     (853)$    2,558$    
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18. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Revenues and goods purchased/services received from the Parent and group companies as 
well as affiliated companies are as follows: 

2021 2020

Revenues:
    Parent and group companies 555,102$    646,172$      
    Affiliated companies 8,778         5,360           
  Goods purchased/services received—Parent
    and group companies 4,155,039   3,221,995     

 

The Company received a significant portion of finance income from the Parent and group 
companies. For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, finance income from the Parent 
and group companies was $24,869 and $59,504, respectively. 

Assets and liabilities of the Company with the Parent and group companies as well as 
affiliated companies are as follows: 

2021 2020

Assets:
  Trade and other receivables—Parent
    and group companies 164,699$    141,060$    
  Notes and loans receivables—Parent
    and group companies 2,480,019   1,813,612   
  Lease receivable 9,869         7,430         
  Income tax receivable 4,313         -                
  Other financial assets 14,933       46,123       
  Other current assets 232            924            
  Other noncurrent financial assets 311            353            
Liabilities:
  Trade and other payables:
    Parent and group companies 87,219       155,178      
    Affiliated companies 32              78              
  Borrowings—Parent and group companies 2,515,514   1,106,359   
  Income tax payables 15,230       21,027       
  Other financial liabilities 38,022       48,886       
  Lease liabilities 161            204            
  Metal lease liabilities 1,638,553   1,250,805   
  Other noncurrent financial liabilities 1,245         937            

March 31,

 

Under the Company’s by-laws, from time to time, dividends will be declared with the sole 
discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, and will pay up to the Company’s prior 
year net income. Such decision will depend upon earnings, market prospects, and future 
investment opportunities. During the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company 
declared cash dividends of $99,915, and $72,064, respectively. 
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19. LEASES 

At the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Company recognized $22 million in “Right-
of-use assets”, $18 million in “Lease liabilities”, $17 million in “Noncurrent lease liabilities”, 
$4 million in “Lease receivable” and $9 million in “Noncurrent lease receivable” in the 
statements of financial position as well as $2 million in the beginning balance of Retained 
earnings. The discount rate applied to lease liabilities at initial application of IFRS 16 is 
3.2%. As a lessee, the Company has leases for office space, tanks and vessels under 
noncancelable lease terms expiring through 2033 with renewal options provided under 
various conditions. The lease term is calculated from the commencement date, the date 
that a lessor makes an underlying asset available for use. The Company may modify 
certain lease and sublease agreements during the term of the contracts. During fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2021, lease modifications caused increases of $10 million in “Right-of-use 
assets”, $2 million in “Lease liabilities” and $9 million in “Noncurrent lease liabilities” in the 
statements of financial position. During fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, lease 
modifications caused increases of $5 million in “Right-of-use assets”, $11 million in 
“Noncurrent lease liabilities”, $5 million in “Noncurrent lease receivable” and a decrease of 
$1 million in “Lease liabilities” in the statements of financial position. Refer to Note 13 for 
the maturity analysis of lease liabilities. 

The following table presents the information about leases as a lessee. 

2021 2020
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
   Buildings and structures 7,636$  4,109$  
   Vessels 1,235    10,322  

      Total 8,871$  14,431$ 

Finance cost on lease liabilities 745       918       

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets 341       382       
Expenses relating to short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets 1,590    4,540    

Total cash outflow for leases 13,827  23,561  
Additions to right-of-use assets 13,282  10,243  

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets—end of year
   Buildings and structures 17,873  10,824  
   Vessels -           1,720    

      Total 17,873$ 12,544$ 
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Maturity analysis of lease receivable is as follows: 

2021 2020

Less than 1 year 4,585$  4,182$  
1 year to 2 year 1,266    4,167    
2 year to 3 year 612       1,172    
3 year to 4 year 613       573       
4 year to 5 year 614       573       
Remaining years 3,929    4,487    

Gross Lease receivable 11,619  15,154  
Unearned finance income (981)      (1,331)   

Total lease receivable 10,638$ 13,823$ 
 

The total amount of finance income on the net investments in the leases is the same as the 
total amount of income from subleasing right-of-use assets. 

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 

Guarantees—Guarantees arise during the ordinary course of business from relationships 
with customers and equity affiliates when the Company undertakes an obligation to 
guarantee the performance of others if specified triggering events occur. Nonperformance 
under a contract by the guaranteed party triggers the obligation of the Company. Such 
nonperformance usually relates to loans. The Company has directly guaranteed various 
debt obligations under agreements with third parties related to equity affiliates and other 
unaffiliated companies. The Company did not have outstanding guarantee obligations at 
March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Legal Matters—The Company is a party to litigation and other unasserted claims arising 
in the ordinary course of business. Although some of the matters are still in preliminary 
stages and definitive conclusions cannot be made as to those matters, the Company is of 
the opinion that, based on information presently available, none of the litigation or claims 
will have a material adverse effect on the financial statements of the Company. 

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after March 31, 2021, 
up through July 9, 2021 the date that the financial statements were available to be issued 
and it has been determined that there were no subsequent events requiring adjustment to 
or disclosure in the financial statements other than noted in note 9. 

22. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements were approved by the Company’s president and authorized for 
issue on July 9, 2021. 

* * * * * *  




